PENINSULA TOWNSHIP

13235 Center Road, Traverse City MI 49686

www.peninsulatownship.com

Township Board Regular Meeting
August 8, 2023, 7:00 p.m.
Township Hall
Minutes

- 1. Call to Order by Wunsch at 7:02 p.m.
- 2. Pledge
- 3. Roll Call

Present: Wunsch, Achorn, Sanger, Rudolph, Shanafelt, Chown

4. Citizen Comments

Alan Leman: I'm from the Grand Traverse County Road Commission and am here with an update. The first thing is the MPO [Metropolitan Planning Organization] you're going to vote on tonight. I'd like to encourage you to join the MPO. We need cross-governmental collaboration in our community. This is a big step to allow that to happen. It comes with some strings, but the positives generally outweigh the negatives.

We are working on the engineering department to start some corridor studies. There has been a lot of talk about crosstown transit, how we get from one side to the other. We're looking at how people from outlying communities get to town. We're also looking at some of the through local roads. In our cost-sharing agreement, the road commission will take care of these and upgrade them without a township contribution. Blue Water is the first one that comes to mind. Engineering has started evaluating that.

Most of you know the Bluff Road grant application was denied. It was for a \$3 million grant to the state. Apparently we didn't stand a chance. The whole program only had somewhere between \$6 and \$7 million. We were told the highest award was about \$400,000.

Finally, our manager Brad has volunteered to be in the dunk tank at a fundraiser out here, and I encourage you to go and help Brad raise a lot of money for the township.

David Taft, 952 Neahtawanta Road: I want to report the responses to my July 10 letter sent to the township board, Protect the Peninsula, and the wineries. The purpose of that letter was to bring the parties together to reach some form of compromise in this lawsuit. My letter formalized our request to meet with the parties to consider compromise. We are offering as a citizens' group to act as facilitators to start this discussion. We mentioned some innovative ideas we've agreed to that should interest all parties. We committed at the end of this process to help amend 201 [the farm processing ordinance], which might need amending if there's some compromise reached. We've had a positive response to participate from your general counsel, Chris Patterson, who indicated interest in a way to resolve this lawsuit and continued discussions on the zoning amendment. Protect the

Peninsula, PTP, responded with unanimous board consent, a willingness to participate so long as the other parties are willing. I've not heard from WOMP or the wineries. Our expanding citizen group will continue to maintain our offer to come together with the township and PTP for compromise discussions, but as concerned citizens, we recognize the formal court order that has settlement discussions starting the end of this month. This is the second amended case management order that was filed late 2023 by the court. We ask the WOMP wineries to "come to the table" to listen and discuss as good neighbors. We will assist and facilitate these discussions and introduce some fresh ideas we believe will be attractive to all parties. We undertake this effort with the hope of reducing conflict and bringing peace and harmony back to the community. Thank you.

Louis Santucci, 12602 Center Road: I'm asking that the issue of the administrative fee for collecting taxes be made an agenda item at the next meeting. You can't tell from the budget information that's put out how much was collected for the administrative fee. How much was spent and how did you determine how much was spent? How much is left over? If there's anything left over, where does it go? Into the general fund, or where? When this issue was first brought before the board, when Brad was the treasurer, he said that you would make an assessment and see whether or not that administrative fee could be reduced. To get to the answer to that question, it would be interesting to see how you determine when you collect the money and how it's spent.

5. Approve Agenda

Shanafelt moved to approve the agenda as presented with a second by Chown. <u>Motion approved by consensus</u>

6. Conflict of Interest:

Wunsch has conflict of interest with business item number seven.

7. Consent Agenda:

- 1. Invoices (recommend approval)
- 2. Reports
 - A. Fire Department
 - B. Ordinance Enforcement Officer
 - C. Cash Summary by Fund
- 3. Minutes from July 11, 2023, Township Board Regular Meeting
- 4. Township board vacancies and service opportunities
- 5. Road name change request
- 6. Wall Street Journal article on summer's best beach vacation
- 7. Correspondence
 - A. David Shambaugh

Rudolph moved to approve the consent agenda with a second by Shanafelt.

Roll call vote: yes – Achorn, Sanger, Rudolph, Shanafelt, Chown, Wunsch Passed unan

8. Business:

1. Resolution on joining the region's new metropolitan planning organization (MPO) and approving its bylaws (Cram)

Cram: in your packets is a cover memo with the details of what Alan [Leman] mentioned earlier, the Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative, or TTCI. There is a resolution,

inter-governmental agreement, and bylaws in your packet for consideration that would authorize Peninsula Township to participate in this working group related to transportation in our region. Rob Carson is here from Networks Northwest.

Carson: we have been through a shortened process that was proposed by MDOT due to the delay in census data. We weren't notified of the urbanized area boundaries until about the end of 2022. What would have been about a year and a half process for designation of an MPO was condensed to about six to nine months. I appreciate your cooperation and your staff's cooperation as well as cooperation of all the other eligible entities: the townships, the city of Traverse City, the Grand Traverse County Road Commission, the Leelanau County Road Commission, and both the Leelanau County and Grand Traverse County Boards of Commissioners. We have received approval from each of the eligible entities except Peninsula Township and Whitewater Township. Whitewater has not had interest in joining, although now with the movement they've seen, they want me to present to their planning commission in October. The benefit of having an MPO and being an eligible entity is that you can join at any time. We're seeking to get the documentation before the governor October 1 and then, following that, official designation. Then we begin the processes spoken about by Mr. Leman in regard to long-range transportation plans, a transportation improvement program (a four-to-five-year plan), and a yearly unified work plan.

Regarding collaboration, this is a regional approach with all participating entities at the table discussing potential transportation alternatives and improvements, prioritizing and placing them within the plan. That makes them eligible for the funding that comes directly from the Federal Highway Administration, the Federal Transit Administration through MDOT to our region. Beyond that, there are at least four different large grant programs we would be eligible for with tens of millions to hundreds of millions of dollars.

Chown: what kind of time commitment is it for a municipality like Peninsula Township? **Carson:** we meet every other month as a policy board. We have a technical committee meeting and an executive committee meeting of the policy board on the off months. You're looking at about six times per year. I don't expect that to change. I doubt we will go to monthly meetings until we get to a process where we're working diligently on a large grant application. The Hartmann Hammond corridor the Grand Traverse County Road Commission has been working on will likely be one of those projects.

Achorn: what are the dues?

Carson: about \$3,700 per year per entity. The more entities involved, the lower the dues. The structure is a single vote per unit and equal dues based on that voting percentage. That is the starting point. Half the MPOs in Michigan have some other structure in place, but each of them was established with a level playing field and morphed from there based on input from the eligible entities and the actual work that was brought forward.

Shanafelt: this is a large group of municipalities working together to identify large projects; do you see this group impacting smaller projects?

Carson: yes. There really is no differentiation of project size for whether or not it's eligible. What dictates eligibility are those roads that are federally aided. Local roads are typically not eligible unless they fall under that category.

Achorn: that means M-37 is the only road in the township that would be impacted? **Carson:** no, there are other eligible roads within your township. I'd have to rely upon the road commission manager to tell me exactly which those are but there are a number of other Act 51 roads that are federally eligible.

Shanafelt: we would work with the other municipalities to build a hierarchy of those more local projects and decide which ones make sense to pursue?

Carson: exactly. One of the benefits is representation from the Michigan Department of Transportation on the policy board, as they serve on all MPOs in the state of Michigan. They can help guide that process with a lot of firsthand experience.

Rudolph: this entity acts to go out and get grant applications?

Carson: the MPO policy board is a complete standalone entity made up of those eligible local units of government, transportation agencies, and transit agencies. They are served by the Community Development Department that I oversee at Networks Northwest. The MPO is standalone from Networks Northwest. It's been the model in Michigan because most MPOs span more than one county. Regional planning agencies have been utilized because they encompass that entire planning area. We don't have membership that serve on actual policy boards as voting members. We're impartial, serving at the discretion of the MPOs. The projects are prioritized by the MPO policy board.

Sanger: this is an annual commitment. In other words; we can leave at any time. This is not a long-term commitment that the board is making.

Carson: correct, you are eligible to join and leave at any time.

Cram: we do have a deadline to get this before the governor. In your packet is a resolution. We need a motion to adopt the resolution in support of the establishment of an interim municipality committee under Michigan Public Act 200 of 1957 for the purposes of transportation planning in the greater Traverse area. There's also the intergovernmental agreement. You would make a motion to participate in that for the Metropolitan Planning Organization. I would need a signature from Isaiah and Becky.

Wunsch moved to approve Resolution 8-8-23 #1, Traverse Transportation Coordination Initiative, with a second by Shanafelt.

Roll call vote: yes – Sanger, Rudolph, Shanafelt, Chown, Wunsch, Achorn

Passed unan
Sanger moved to authorize the supervisor and clerk enter into an agreement with the
Traverse Transportation Coordination Initiative with a second by Rudolph.

Motion
passed by consensus

2. Update from parks committee (Murphy)

Michele Zebell: Mike Skurski arranged to have Muriel Garbarino, the Invasive Species Network representative, come and visit our parks. It was very informative and helpful. She provided resources [in the packet] so residents can see ways of dealing with invasives. We are continuing to work toward a park logo and park signage. Pelizzari will be the first place that happens and will be the template for our other signs.

At Bowers Harbor Park, we have a new native garden created by Deb Larimer, Katie Grier, Russ Larimer, and the Chown family stones. It is around our historic marker and is a nice model for native plantings. The tennis court will be resurfaced and painted. Once that happens, it will be unavailable for play for 30 days. I believe it will be chained and we

should post something on the township website as well. The pickleball courts and basketball courts will be completed in the near future and available for play. They need lines painted and a little bit more surfacing work done. I want to thank you for supporting the improvements to Bowers Harbor Park. The minute those hoops were up, there were people on the basketball court. I've seen more people on the volleyball sand court than I've ever seen in all the time I've lived here.

An enormous thank you to the members of the Old Mission Pickleball Club for all they've done: the work, the effort, the vision, and the fundraising to give us such an amazing facility. It's a real gift to the community. I'm excited about the [September 30] celebration because it gives us an opportunity to do a ribbon cutting and recognize the individuals who played a huge role in what is going to be a gorgeous facility. That celebration itself has taken a bit of a reshaping and is going to focus on each of those sports venues plus the play structure with a scavenger hunt. We're also hoping to have a more passive aspect to the celebration, where people get a map and move through the park, to make everyone more aware of all the park has to offer. We have a meeting next week with a portion of the committee.

Dave Murphy: Michelle has been tying many pieces together, and we can't thank her enough for that leadership. I want to compliment this body again for the way we've set up the structure in recent years with collaborative, routine effort between the two bodies. It's showing with the things we're getting done in the recreational parks. The lighthouse has always been a big undertaking, and I know Marge [Achorn] continues to stay on top of that, which allows us to work with these other parks. Thank you for that.

At Pelizzari, the expansion effort is ongoing. The conservancy is leading that. If [the board] would like to attend any of the upcoming walks, it's an opportunity to see what is still private land that will become part of Pelizzari. We are continuing to work with neighbors to create the tie back to the original park area. There's always ongoing volunteer work with plantings, watering, invasive species removal, and vegetation management. Thank you, Jenn [Cram], for bringing the new ordinance to the parks. We're trying to work within that.

The large tree removal at the front of the parking lot at Pelizzari, a massive maple that we didn't want to lose, was in MDOT's right-of-way. We brought in a tree service to get estimates to take care of it. In the end, MDOT said, "When it needs to go, we'll take it at our discretion." We opted not to invest the money into preserving it, and it's gone now. There was a second tree taken but it wasn't on Pelizzari property.

There is a need for some type of sustainable trail in the hemlock wing of the park. It gets so much use that the hemlocks' root systems are being damaged. They are sensitive to compaction. We're looking at a boardwalk system that will protect the hemlocks. We've had some pushback. "Why would you put a boardwalk in that's going to harm the hemlocks?" It's the other way around; it will protect and preserve them. Becky [Chown] has been doing a lot of outreach to find new grant sources. Thank you. I've been working with neighbors to make sure the plan that is up for review is agreeable to neighbors. You have a September [7] meeting with a discussion of township structure. I hope within that discussion there might be some review of what that could mean for a parks budget

and whether we're going to need to look at a parks millage, which we considered a couple of years ago and took off the table. I thought it was an appropriate move with PDR coming, but we are at the point where if we want to continue work on the parks, we need to upgrade the budget. How that fits into this larger discussion, I think, is critical. Thank you. Mary Beth Milliken: this year Archie Park is seeing some nice improvements. We received a grant from DTE to replace trees that were removed by a neighbor on the hill. It would have been nice to put in trees of the same size but it wasn't possible. I purchased eight native dogwoods. They should be nice once they start flowering. They are watered twice a week. That's an effort. I do have someone who's offered to help; we just haven't connected yet. At the township, I pick up the 35-gallon tank. After I put it in my car, I fill it up, drive to Archie Park, connect the hose, and go up the hill and water each of the eight trees. Each gets about four gallons at a time. I think we spent about \$1,000 in this effort. The second improvement to Archie Park is the addition of a bike repair stand and pump. We got a sizable grant from Cherry Capital Cycling Club. Brick Wheels offered to buy it at cost for us and we paid them back. It's arrived and will be put in as soon as we get a cement pad, which Bob [Wilkinson, township maintenance man and sexton] has ordered and will install. [Archie Park] is a launch site for bikers going up the peninsula who want to avoid riding on Center Road. They go on Bluff and make the big loop. A stand that can repair their bikes and pump up tires is a really nice addition.

Presentation by Carie Wilie, executive director of the Traverse City Track Club (Wunsch)

Wilie: I wanted to take this opportunity to reintroduce the track club and give an update on what we've been up to. I started as the executive director in February. [PowerPoint presentation]

The Traverse City Track Club [TCTC] is a nonprofit organization, a 501 (c) (3). We are membership based. We have 13 board members and are the largest running club in Michigan. We serve the five-county area: Antrim, Benzie, Grand Traverse, Kalkaska, and Leelanau. We put on events and programs for members and non-members throughout the year. We own and produce a large race event you're familiar with, the Bayshore Marathon. We also operate a robust charitable giving program.

Our mission statement is, "We promote and encourage health, fitness, fellowship, community service, family, recreation and competition via running and walking, and we welcome all ages and abilities." Last year, our board established our core values, which are as follows: "Welcoming, community, active lifestyle, and quality." We try to be welcoming in all our events, whether for newcomers or people who have been involved for years. Even though we're known as a running club, we have a great contingent of walkers who come to our weekly Fun Runs. They start a little bit earlier and go on the same route. It's a great opportunity for camaraderie amongst walkers and runners. We work to create a sense of community among our membership and also the community at large. Active Lifestyle: we promote health and wellness in the programs we put on. Quality: we don't add new programs or new races very often. When we do, we want to make sure they're well run, so we emphasize quality as one of our core values.

Timeline: we've been around for 60 years. The track club started in 1962, when our first

program, the Summer Series, began. Bayshore started in 1983. It was a full marathon and a 10k. The half marathon didn't start until 2006. Our first executive director was hired in 2017, and that brings us to 2023, when we added a new event, Loop the Lake. We are currently undergoing a strategic plan update. We're in the information-gathering phase, working with key stakeholders, members, non-members, and organizations we work with or maybe would like to have relationships with, businesses and organizations we might impact with our races. Then we'll establish our priorities and goals and potentially we will have program updates.

Here's our membership chart [in packet]. That peak in the middle is 2019, when we had more than 1,000 members. That correlates with what we're seeing in the running industry nationwide from COVID. A lot of running clubs and races saw a peek in 2019, and then we saw a dip. We've slowly been coming back up, and this year we have more than 900 members. This is the second largest number of members we've had since our inception. If you want to see what the track club is all about, our weekly Fun Runs and walks happen year-round. We meet at different establishments around the community and walk and run three or five miles at whatever pace. You can stay around for socialization afterwards. We also put on popular monthly trail runs. We do a summer series, The Grand Prix Circuit, which is an opportunity for our members to go out and experience other races that we don't put on. We have a racing team, and we also have a training program that helps people get ready, whether for their first 5k or to set a personal best in the marathon. Youth involvement and investment is an important part of the TCTC. One of the events we do is the Bayshore Kids Fun Run. That happens early in the afternoon on the Saturday of Memorial Day, after the adult races. This year, we had just under 400 kids registered. They get Moomers ice cream at the end. We also sponsor the Cherry Fest Kids Fun Run. We help put that on, provide volunteers, and help organize. We work with the festival foundation and provide discounted youth membership rates, discounted youth race registrations, and a charitable giving program.

We put on six races throughout the year. The Bayshore Marathon is our largest event. Our other five races we call more community-sized races. Good Fight 5k occurs in October. All proceeds are donated to the Munson Patient Needs Care Fund. Proceeds from Loop the Lake, our newest race, are donated to TART Trails. Loop the Lake takes advantage of the courses around the Boardman Lake Loop Trail, which was completed last summer. There are several races throughout the region that are not put on by the track club. I love to support other races. Especially if they're well run, it's good for the running community and the greater community.

Bayshore Marathon: we utilize your wonderful roads for that course. It is our original race. We recently celebrated our 40th anniversary. We now put on a full marathon, half marathon, 10k, and kids' race. It's known as the fastest marathon in Michigan; that statistic is pulled from the number of people who qualify for the Boston Marathon. The actual marathon course is well known as being scenic and also flat. On our half marathon, we utilize Devils Dive Road. It's hilly at the start but then very flat into the finishing line. Last year, to celebrate the 40th anniversary, we started a live podcast taping with a famous running podcaster and brought Desiree Linden to be interviewed. This year we

moved the location downtown and were able to accommodate three times the number of people. Our packet pickup and runner expo moved from Traverse City Central High School to the Civic Center based on feedback on timing and the logistics of getting in there after school closed. We hope it also alleviated some of the congestion at the high school. The races occur on the Saturday of Memorial Day weekend.

This year, we had more than 7,460 registered participants representing 10 countries and 42 states and more than 1,000 volunteers. More than 400 gallons of Moomers ice cream were consumed.

After the 2022 Bayshore Marathon, we worked with a professor from Kent State University who looked at the economic impact. He concluded that the Bayshore Marathon weekend activities resulted in a \$7.75 million increase in economic activity in the region. I mentioned the number of volunteers we have, but that doesn't include the vendors and other partners we work with. We work very closely with our emergency service partners, including your fire department, the county sheriff's office, the Traverse City Police Department, the Traverse City Fire Department, and our medical response team. Due to bus driver shortages, we went from utilizing the TCAPS bus drivers to bringing in BATA as well as the Blue Lakes by the Bay Bus system to help us transport our half marathon participants to the start line and also get people to the high school area, which is kind of our start and finish line hub area.

We do a survey after the event every year. One of the questions is, "What was your favorite moment of the 2023 Bayshore Race?" I could have included hundreds of comments about the beauty of the course, but what I thought was neat about this slide is that it highlights how the participants are encouraged by residents and spectators along the course. From a participant standpoint, that's very appreciated. Thank you to the board as the permitting authority because we do recognize that Peninsula Township is a very special place. We appreciate the opportunity to invite these participants to run here. Regarding our charitable giving programs, our organization has evolved into a more formal process. We now have a formal scholarship and grant program as well as a Golden Shoe fund. This year alone, we were able to award \$30,500 in scholarships for the upcoming academic year to high school graduating seniors as well as current college students from our five-county region. Since 2013, we have been able to give more than \$260,000 in scholarships to students. This year our grant cycle has not opened up yet for the fall, but we are budgeted to hopefully grant \$100,000 to nonprofit organizations within the region whose projects align with our mission. Our Golden Shoe fund is a program that allows for coaches of area high school runners and middle school runners to provide an opportunity to partner with us and donate shoes to students who need running shoes for either cross country or track season. Through our races, we give donations back to the organizations that come and work at our races. This year, we were able to donate \$46,000 to those work groups for volunteering their time. Overall, we've given more than \$2 million back to the greater community through our charitable giving programs.

In Peninsula Township, the organizations that have been impacted over the years include the Friends of Peninsula Community Library, Old Mission Women's Club, the school and PTO, the township, Old Mission American Legion, Peter Dougherty Society, Peninsula Fire and Rescue Association, and Mission Point Lighthouse. The Bowers Harbor Park Trail was granted \$25,000, and in 2016 the Peter Doherty Society Trail was granted funds. In 2008, funds were donated for track improvements at the school. The Peninsula Community Library and Friends of the Peninsula Community Library have received close to \$15,000. In 2023, three specific groups from Peninsula Township volunteered at Bayshore: Old Mission Women's Club, OMPS PTO, and Peninsula Community Library. We had eight teams from Traverse City Central High School. Those organizations were given \$13,400. That doesn't include other organizations such as the Grand Traverse Hiking Club and VASA Ski Club. Our policy is, if there is an organization that's based on the Old Mission Peninsula, they get priority. In terms of scholarships, I understand Central High School is not in Peninsula Township, but given its proximity to the township, I thought I'd point out that we gave \$14,500 in scholarships to seven students from Traverse City Central High School this year. **Rudolph:** what is the projected number of runners for next year?

Wilie: this year, we were ready to cap it at 8,500, but we didn't reach that cap. We were at 7,500 registered runners. Our marathon numbers have gone down slightly. Our half marathon still continues to be the most popular race. If I could predict, I would say that we would be around what we were this year.

4. Letter of resignation from Peninsula Township Board Trustee Warren Wahl (Wunsch) **Wunsch:** Wahl's letter of resignation in your packet says, "Isaiah, I've realized I'm no longer able to give the time commitment the board and Peninsula Township residents deserve. Please accept this as my resignation. I wish you all the best, Warren."

Sanger moved to accept the letter of resignation from Warren Wahl with a second by Shanafelt.

Roll call vote: yes – Rudolph, Shanafelt, Chown, Wunsch, Achorn, Sanger **Passed unan Wunsch:** regarding recruiting and appointing a replacement, the next step is to post the vacancy on the website. We have 45 days to fill the position. With everyone's consent, I recommend that we leave the position posted for two weeks and then look at the number of resumes we receive. As the supervisor, I'm able to bring a recommendation for a candidate. Do you want me to review the resumes that are submitted and bring forward a recommendation or would you prefer an open interview process?

Shanafelt: given our time limitations before the next series of elections, from a point of expediency, it makes sense for you to identify your recommendation. We then have the obligation to support it or not.

Wunsch: in the interests of transparency, I will circulate resumes that are submitted to the board and put them in the packet so residents can see who has applied. I will review resumes and bring a recommendation forward. Should you choose to not accept the recommendation, you'll be able to sort through the resumes that have been provided and choose the candidate.

5. Discussion on going out for bid on engineering for parks projects, including Kelley Park Boat Launch (Wunsch)

Wunsch: Beckett & Raeder assisted us with the grant application for the Kelley Park boat launch project. The officers feel it's appropriate to allow Beckett & Raeder to bid on the remaining design work. I've got to give Becky [Chown] credit for being ambitious about

pursuing philanthropic, state, and federal funding for our park system. This goes back to what we heard in the parks report about the historical lack of funding for our park system. This course of action we've taken at Kelley Park, where we find a qualified grant writer to put together a grant application for us to secure state or federal funds, is something we may be doing in the future.

Instead of just bringing the concept of approving Beckett & Raeder as the design firm for the boat launch, we wanted to have a conversation about what our policy for design work should be on these projects moving forward. I've spoken with Jennifer Graham, our engineer of record. She thinks we're moving in a good direction. She said there are a lot of situations where her firm collaborates with Beckett & Raeder or other firms that specialize in grant writing and design. Jennifer recommended that we put out an RFQ, which she can assist with. If we receive grant funds, we will look for firms to bid on specific components of the project. There are firms that specialize in the design work and firms that specialize in the hard engineering work, which is what Gourdie-Fraser does. I wanted to check in and make sure this is a process you all agree with.

Beckett & Raeder did the design work on the boat launch. We've received a \$600,000 [\$562,000] grant from the DNR. The next step, according to the advice of our engineer of record, is to put out an RFQ that would have the design work in all likelihood done by the company that has been working with us thus far. Then a separate response from our engineer of record who would be able to do surveying and soil borings.

Chow: what does the "Q" stand for?

Wunsch: qualifications. It's like an RFP, but they'll bite off separate parts of the project.

Shanafelt: this general process would be applied to any project?

Wunsch: to projects in the parks where we've pursued significant grant funding. **Chown:** sensitive parks projects, where there is a sustainable trail component or something that's not just nuts and bolts.

Rudolph: it's important to get a grant proposal writer or an engineer who has expertise in what we're asking them to do. Our engineer of record does not have expertise in boat ramps. We need to go to an engineering firm that knows how to do that and can work with the DNR to get the approvals we need.

Wunsch: in the same way that the MPO represents a professionalization of transportation infrastructure, this RFQ process, according to our engineer of record, will also improve our scores on a number of the grants that we could apply for. It will improve our competitiveness in a lot of grant scoring.

Shanafelt: this should be done in collaboration with our parks committee.

Sanger: I've been impressed with this firm. I've looked at master plans they have prepared for other communities. There comes a point in time when you don't have the internal resources. It makes sense to get a consulting firm to help us package the scope of work and to package exactly what is going to be delivered. We sat here a couple of years ago, excited about putting a boat launch in Kelley Park to get the traffic out of Haserot. Unfortunately, we have not been able to meet our wishes up to this point. I suggest we move ahead.

Chown: we would put out an RFQ for the detailed engineering work, not the construction

of the ramp?

Wunsch: Gourdie-Fraser would help us put out an RFQ, the bid process where individual contractors could bid on parts of the design work. You're not asking for Beckett & Raeder to bring all elements under their roof. They coordinate with each other to put together a bid that's broken up into different chunks.

Chown: but this wouldn't be to construct the launch; the construction would be a different bid process. Okay.

Sanger: it's akin to hiring an architect, but it's a much broader scope.

Wunsch: an RFQ would allow the contractors to break out components of the project, whereas an RFP would ask applicants to submit bids for the whole project. Gourdie-Fraser does a lot of the RFQ writing and they've indicated they'd be excited to work with Beckett & Raeder on this project if that's the direction we're leaning in.

Board indicates agreement.

6. Discussion of proposed fall festival at St. Joseph Catholic Church (Cram)

Cram: St. Joseph's Catholic Church is proposing its third annual fall festival to take place entirely on church property at 12675 Center Road on October 7 from 12:00 p.m. until 5:00 p.m. In your packet, they've given a description of what the fall festival entails. It includes a food tent that is hosted by the Our Lady of Guadalupe Parish; people pay for the food. The cost of the food pays for the ingredients and the time and preparation to make it. They would also be doing a wine tasting in the parish hall. They would charge for those tastings. They have included all their information with regard to signs and meeting the requirements of the large event ordinance. This is the third year they've done this. The two previous years, it was a new event and didn't follow the formal process of our large event ordinance. It was just placed on the consent agenda before the township board. They hope to have 250 or more participants. They are following the large event ordinance. There is an application fee . They have asked for that fee to be waived. We have tried to adjust our permit fees to cover staff time and resources for these things. I will leave it for the board to decide whether or not to waive the \$1,000 application fee. Father Rexroat is here to answer questions. They've checked all the boxes with regard to requirements. The one thing I need to follow up on is liability insurance.

Shanafelt: what is the rationale to waive the fee?

Cram: the rationale is that they were not charged the fee the two previous years and they are a non-profit. They are trying to follow our process and weren't aware there was an application fee because it hadn't been mentioned previously.

Chown: in general, I'm not inclined to waive fees, but I want to acknowledge and thank St. Joseph Catholic Church for hosting our elections year after year and waiving our fee to hold elections at the church. It could be something that I would support for that reason. We have a meeting coming up on September 7 at the church. I didn't ask if there would be a fee for that.

Sanger: I served as the business manager to the church for a number of years previously. The church has always welcomed the township once they had the larger facility. We've met there several times in the last couple of years for special meetings.

Achorn: did the township incur any cost out of pocket for this event?

Cram: staff time and mailing resources.

Achorn: mailing is minimal?

Cram: yes.

Achorn: did we have to publish this in the Record-Eagle?

Cram: the large event ordinance does not require that we publish for large events.

Achorn: how many mailers went out?

Cram: eleven. This was the legal notice to meet the requirements of the large event

ordinance.

Achorn: minimal.

Wunsch: I'm comfortable with moving forward on approval of the event. We should ask for brief legal comments on the advisability of waiving the fee.

Matt Kuschel, with Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes, via Zoom: I tend to advise against waiving fees. The next person in line is going to want a waiver. There is historic precedent you could hang your hat on, but it's not risk free. I see the argument. There are some distinguishing factors that the board could link to. I would still advise against it. Another alternative would be to have a lower fee, half a fee or something. You could take it into consideration for future fee schedules. This organization is working through the ordinance, and they want to comply. They just realized they reached the population threshold to fall under the ordinance, so it's a bit of a scramble to get the application in. That might justify a half fee.

Achorn: we have the races that are 501 (c) (3); could they claim a similar waiving of fees? **Chown:** they could always request them.

Achorn: what if we paid rent when we used the facilities? I think that is normal, speaking as a former tax CPA. Bartering is not wise.

Sanger: I'm concerned that we do not have the full story of our involvement with non-profits in our community. We let people use the township hall without charge. I am not prepared tonight to change course from the last two years. If we wish to later, that's fine, but I don't have a complete picture of the total relationship this government has with anyone in the community who is in the business of renting or allowing use of their facility.

Chown: I have a decent handle on litigation these days in Peninsula Township, and I certainly don't want to invite more problems, but I also don't want to stop being neighborly. That is a fine line to walk.

Father Rexroat: as a point of clarity, we cannot charge you rent. If we did, we would have to start paying taxes on our parish hall.

Chown: so we misspoke on that.

Rexroat: there is a gift to the church for use that people can [offer]. When we began several years ago, we saw the large event ordinance. We talked to the manager [supervisor] at the time and said, "We have more people that come to Christmas Mass than this ordinance allows." When the former fire chief had his funeral at St. Joe's, he wasn't a parishioner, but we were the only venue that could host it. We did it with no charge. That was larger than the event ordinance allows. The question is, do we operate a little differently when the occupancy of our grounds is about double what the event [ordinance] allows? That's just the legal occupancy of the building. We're not having a

10,000-person race that goes on the roads. When we talked with the manager [former supervisor], that was his understanding of what this ordinance was aimed at. It even asked for things like, "Where is the course?" There is no course. That's why he said, "Okay, we'll just have this as an approval item." Our expectation was that we would continue this way. I'm uncomfortable with the large event ordinance because where does that end? We normally have more than 250 people on Easter, the Fourth of July, and whoever comes to mass. We're going through this process, trying to answer the questions in good faith, but it's a tough ordinance for the church.

Cram: this is part of the reason we need to look at the large event ordinance. St. Joseph Catholic Church has a special use permit, so does it make more sense to allow these types of things as part of their special use? The regular services are considered part of the special use permit. We didn't consider the other events that are not religiously oriented. Our large event ordinance specifically says if you're having an event, on either private property or public property, with 250 people or more, you go through this process.

Chown: can churches be exempt if the church facility has the capacity?

Cram: we could look at that. The ordinance specifically exempts schools. We did talk to our legal counsel. That's why we're treating them the way we would treat anybody else who wants to have an event with 250 people or more on their property.

Kuschel: the distinction that was made is religious versus non-religious. I think there's a material difference between a parish festival and Easter Mass.

Achorn: is there any guidance you can give us?

Kuschel: I would not be concerned about the large event ordinance when you have Christmas and Easter and more than 250 people coming to church because that's what a church does. That is its land use. The question on the parish festival and how that relates to the rest of the parish grounds is not as clear as the very explicit religious exercise. That's why, when we look at the festival, we take a different approach. We're going to continue to look at those land use questions to get a broad picture and then drill down into a specific understanding to get some guidance for you to move forward.

Achorn: how will that help us tonight?

Kuschel: the application is before the board. The material question is the fee waiver request, with no policy or guidelines to help you decide that. Whether the fee is waived or not waived, the next question is whether or not to grant this specific event.

Cram: start with the latter: does the board approve this event as presented? And then are you comfortable waiving the fee or do you want to table that to another meeting? **Sanger:** we've assumed that the large event ordinance is applicable here. This is not really open to the public in the sense that it's not trying to draw in everybody on the peninsula. It's not like a football game. This is no different than other non-profit events that have gone on in our township that we didn't even talk about.

Shanafelt: like what?

Sanger: First Congregational Church has had events for their own group -

Shanafelt: that's different; this is open to the public.

Sanger: so was the event at the other church. We are partially penalizing this group by coming forward and asking a question about which I don't know the answer tonight.

Cram: the ordinance reads, "Event shall mean any organized and open to the general public event where 250 people or more will be in attendance at one time and held on either public or private real property or on the roads within the township, and may be held at one or more sites provided however, an event shall not include an activity of any size that is sponsored by an elementary or secondary school recognized as such by the state of Michigan." I thought it was clear that this did apply. It has been brought before the board two years previously for consideration on the consent agenda.

Shanafelt: I don't have a problem approving the event. My issue is hearing about a potential fee waiver for the first time. I propose we need to table the fee waiver.

Cram: I can work with legal counsel and look at past minutes.

Rudolph: need to look at whether churches should be exempt as well as schools.

Cram: you can't just do churches. I discussed this with legal counsel prior to moving forward with this application. In order to not face future litigation, we need to treat the churches the same as all other private organizations.

Wunsch: looks like we have agreement on the event and just need more time to consult on the fee waiver.

Cram: that allows them to move forward with planning.

Wunsch: the problem with the large event ordinance is it appears it was designed for events like this. Those types of events were undersubscribed, so it was tweaked to cover the large public races, and our fee schedule anticipates the larger public races. This year we may be in a bind, where the applicant would have to pay the \$1,000 fee. We could do some policy work during the off season, and the planning commission could recommend that we look at a two-tiered system for approval of large events. One would be largely self-contained on private property, and a second would be public. Then we could more reasonably split up the fee schedule. The problem is that we've approved the fee schedule. We don't have certainty that the existing ordinance will be amended.

Sanger: we've approved a special use permit for a building that seats 300. The parking has capacity to meet the needs of this particular building and its uses. We are trying to put an event under the umbrella of the special event ordinance, which really was more aimed at large events like the Bayshore [Marathon] that don't have a physical property. We probably shouldn't be applying the large event ordinance to an SUP that allows for a funeral of 500 people and anything else that might might go on in that facility.

Wunsch: the guidance [Cram] received is that we should apply the large event ordinance because there are enough differences between this event and normal religious activity. **Cram:** or we should be considering these in the special use permit to note that in addition to the use of the property for religious activities, they may also have up to three events, for example, per year, as part of their special use permit. That is how I've handled these types of situations in the past. Or I like the tiered approach for the different types of events. There are many things we can consider moving forward.

Wunsch: it sounds like we don't need formal approval at this evening's meeting. You both are going to keep working on planning the event and putting together the permit application, and then we're going to get with legal on what we can do about a fee waiver. **Rexroat:** would the event be cancelable? The fee is a different issue. We're not promoting

this right now because we don't know if we can have it.

Wunsch: does anyone have objections to the event as presented?

No objections

Kuschel: you can approve the application on the condition of submission of an application fee as determined by the township, and it sounds like the insurance certificate is still outstanding.

Cram: the board has the authority to set the permit fees. It could be a decision of the board after we talk to legal counsel that we could look at again if needed.

Sanger: I suggest that the legal review include a review of the applicability of that large event ordinance to an SUP.

Cram: I already had that discussion with legal counsel. That's why this is before you.

Sanger: where do we draw the line between a church event, be it any denomination, that is going to bring in more than 250 people, and a large funeral or wedding?

Shanafelt: what differentiates this is the activities. They are different than any of those ceremonies you identified.

Sanger: if it's only going to attract members and immediate family members, how is that different than the use of the soccer field on Sunday morning by more than 250 people? **Wunsch:** Jenn has talked about these issues with legal counsel. It's why she thought it advisable to bring this project through the large event process.

Shanafelt: I would vote to approve the pending application.

Sanger: I'm afraid that puts the applicant out on a limb.

Rexroat: we will have the event either way.

Shanafelt moved to approve the large event with a pending review of the fee waiver with a second by Rudolph.

Motion passed by consensus, Sanger abstained

7. Resolution to suspend end enforcement of sign ordinance for u-pick operations for the remainder of the 2023 growing season (Cram)

Shanafelt moved to recuse Wunsch from the board with a second by Chown. <u>Motion passed by consensus.</u>

Cram: as discussed at our July meeting, I requested the board's permission to suspend the enforcement of temporary signage for u-pick operations and off-premise signage for u-pick and farm stands to give us the opportunity to see how creative our farmers get and to see about making changes to our sign ordinance to support farmers with regard to seasonal operations. The board was comfortable doing that. This is the resolution to formalize that recommendation.

Chown: I'm happy to see vintage trucks and tractors are included.

Cram: I have received a couple of emails from farmers who are appreciative of allowing this flexibility. I'll be working through this topic winter to bring some amendments to the sign ordinance prior to next season.

Sanger moved to approve the resolution with a second by Rudolph.

Roll call vote: yes – Shanafelt, Chown, Achorn, Sanger

Passed unan

Shanafelt moved to bring Wunsch back to the board with a second by Sanger. <u>Motion</u> passed by consensus

8. Litigation update (Chris Patterson from Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes) [Litigation

update provided by Matt Kuschel instead of Patterson]

Kuschel: regarding the SUP lawsuit that is in discovery now, the insurance company Tokio Marine was contacted to provide insurance defense. The written discovery is ongoing. Depositions will likely start to be scheduled in the second half of September and October. Family Orchards litigation: motions have been filed and are pending before the court. Wineries case: depositions are closed. We are finished with the additional discovery. There is a pending motion regarding the insurance policy. The insurance defense is taking the lead on that.

There is a settlement conference scheduled for the end of the month. Insurance counsel will again coordinate with the township and our office in terms of staffing and updates. There is some tax tribunal litigation going on regarding personal property tax exemptions. The initial paperwork has been filed and is moving forward.

9. Citizen Comments

John Kendra, 17630 Smokey Hollow: with regard to the boat launch, you said the Michigan DNR gave the township [almost] \$600,000 to do some design work and then after that go out for some bids for building?

Wunsch: the [almost] \$600,000 covers approximately 50 percent of the design and build costs of the entire project. We are looking to find a \$600,000 match to the grant.

Kendro: you expect the budget to be 1.2 [million]? You said you are going to go ahead and get the design work, then go out with an RFQ for the quote, then construction. So we'll probably see this constructed in 2025?

Chown: if we can find the match, in 2024.

Kendra: it won't come from township revenue funds from taxpayers?

Chown: we don't have that kind of money in our revenue fund. **Kendra:** have you actually received the [nearly] \$600,000?

Wunsch: no, it's a match. We need to [come up with] the other 50 percent.

Kendra: with regard to the church, with all the litigation going on, it's very simple. You

have to charge them. No waivers until you change the ordinance.

Maura Sanders, 20202 Center Road: I want to give a shout out to the parks committee on an outstanding job. It's been a couple of years since I was on the park commission; I miss it dearly. Everything that's been going on up and down the peninsula is outstanding. I am sad to see Warren go, but you will receive my resume to fill the town board position, and I hope you take a good look at it.

Louis Santucci, 12602 Center Road: as you struggle through this church thing, I don't understand why you couldn't do a moratorium on enforcement like you did with the sign ordinance. You put a moratorium on the winery situation two times last year. There aren't any more events that I know of for the rest of the year. If you put a moratorium on enforcement of the ordinance with regard to large events, then you don't have to deal with a constitutional issue, favoring a religious order over something else. I live across the street from the church, and I attend a lot of their events. From a noise point of view, I never hear anything over there. That's a lot of people. Good food too.

Molly Stretten, 2822 Devils Dive Road: circling back to the conversation about waiving fees or charging non-profits fees, since 2001, I have either worked for, volunteered for, or

served as a board member for various non-profit organizations. I have an affinity for them, many of which provide valuable services. I'm not a churchgoer. I don't have any skin in the game with what's happening, although they have an amazing Mexican food vendor there that I love so I will be going. I would encourage some sort of carve out for non-profit organizations. I don't think we should be charging them for large-scale events. I have in the past rounded up veterinarians with the city of Burbank to hold large-scale pet vaccination clinics. These were not large moneymakers. They were in compliance with public health ordinances, and we helped folks get in compliance with licensing. I think you would have community support if we took a look at that zoning ordinance where non-profits were concerned and considered not charging large fees. Thank you.

Steve Kroupa, 12724 Center Road: the church is a fantastic neighbor. I live straight across the road from them. I look out the window and see their beautiful lights at night on the stained glass. My other issue is not very pleasant. I have talked to the police several times. I've tailed these people right down to where they live. They seem to like drag racing their motorcycles. I'm getting tired of it. They've got three or four crotch rockets, and they go 80 to 90 miles an hour past my house. I talked to the cop several times and heard, "We have to catch them in the act." I wanted to see if there's anything you guys can do. They drive like fools. There's no excuse for that. One weekend, we had a crew of Corvettes go by at about 90 miles an hour. I don't know what their problem is. I guess they just like to hot rod and show off their fancy cars. This isn't the Indy 500. This issue of motorcycles is getting old; it's been going on for two years. Thank you.

Nancy R. Heller, 3091 Blue Water Road: this board needs to review the community police officer scheduling. We don't have enough night or weekend coverage. We've got two officers. When it was put up for approval on the ballot, my interpretation was that we would get better coverage. I think we have two great officers; I have nothing negative to say about that. I don't know who does the scheduling, but I suggest this whole board look at the scheduling. They are sometimes double scheduled. I don't know why. We're paying a lot of money. Fair money; they're worth it. But we're not getting the coverage. I keep hearing, I've seen no statistics, that Peninsula Township is a low crime area. We don't get any coverage from the county. We pay for coverage. I know everybody is spread thin. But it would be good to possibly research some of this.

10. Board Comments

Chown: about the occasional double booking of our two CPOs [community policy officers]: when they are double booked, one will park somewhere and then people will pass that officer and think they're home free and step on the gas. The other officer's waiting a mile or two up ahead. They've been very effective at surprising some fast drivers. I do think an occasional usage of double booking is a good idea.

Sanger: I read in a legislative update today there is a deadline on the designation of ARPA funds. I understand we have till December 31 to benefit from a 1 percent additional transfer of funds to the township if we show we have designated those ARPA funds by the end of this year.

Chown: there's a group of us working to determine how to best leverage those remaining ARPA dollars for park infrastructure needs. We are looking at some significant grant

deadlines. We don't have all the information we need to proceed regarding which grants to apply for, but I'm thinking specifically Trust Fund grants. If we're going to do that, we wouldn't make this deadline.

Sanger: it seemed it was an enticement to allocate the funds. I'll send it to you.

Rudolph: with the boat ramp, does it help with going out for grant applications if you have monetary pledges of support from individuals in the community?

Chown: yes. We need people to pledge money for this boat launch. [To the community] Let us know if you can make a contribution.

Wunsch: the boat launch fits within the DNR's framework as a community boat launch. In the scope of our parks budget, we will be fully leveraging years' worth of current park funding to do the [nearly] \$600,000 match. We're essentially relying on charitable contributions, or other grant dollars, to make up the other half of that match. We've had a number of conversations about significant philanthropic gifts. That's basically what we're looking for in order to make the boat launch happen.

11. Adjournment

Chown moved to adjourn with a second by Sanger. <u>Motion approved by consensus.</u>
Adjourned at 9:10 p.m.